Circadian abnormalities as markers of susceptibility in bipolar disorders

 $Vanessa\ Milhiet^{1,4,6},\ Carole\ Boudebesse^{1,6,7},\ Frank\ Bellivier^{3,5,6,7},\ Xavier\ Drouot^{2,4,6},\ Chantal\ Henry^{1,4,6,7},\ Marion\ Leboyer^{1,4,6,7},\ Bruno\ Etain^{1,6,7}$

¹AP-HP, Groupe Hospitalier Henri Mondor-Albert Chenevier, Pole de Psychiatrie, Creteil, 94000, France, ²AP-HP, Groupe Henri Mondor-Albert Chenevier, Service de Physiologie, Creteil, 94000, France, ³AP-HP, Groupe Saint-Louis -Lariboisiere - Fernand Widal, Pole Neurosciences, Paris, France, ⁴Universite Paris Est UPEC, UFR de Medecine, Creteil, 94000, France, ⁵Universite Paris-7 Paris-Diderot, UFR de Medecine, 75010, Paris, France, ⁶Inserm, U955, Creteil, 94000, France, ⁷Fondation Fondamental, Creteil, 94000, France

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- 1. Abstract
- 2. Introduction
- 3. Neurobiology of the circadian system
 - 3.1. The molecular clock
 - 3.2. The melatoninergic system
 - 3.3. The influence of circadian systems on neurotransmitter systems involved in regulating mood
- 4. Circadian disturbances as trait markers in bipolar disorders
 - 4.1. Lifestyle regularity
 - 4.2. Morningness-eveningness typology
 - 4.3. Sleep-wake cycle
 - 4.5. Neuroendocrine and other physiological variables
 - 4.5.1. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: cortisol
 - 4.5.2. Pineal function: melatonin
 - 4.5.3. Other hormones
 - 4.5.4. Body temperature
- 5. Circadian genes and bipolar disorders
 - 5.1. Candidate genes: association studies
 - 5.2. Other molecular approaches
 - 5.3. Phenotypic expression associated with circadian genes and pharmacogenetics
- 6. Chronotherapeutic aspects in bipolar disorders
 - 6.1. Manipulating circadian rhythms using photic input
 - 6.2. Inter-Personal and Social Rhythm Therapy and psychoeducation
 - 6.3. Non-focused circadian pharmacological treatments
 - 6.4. Focused circadian pharmacological treatments
- 7. Perspectives
- 8. Acknowledgements
- 9. References

1. ABSTRACT

Chronobiological models have contributed to a better understanding of the pathophysiology of bipolar disorders. Circadian functions dysregulations are associated with bipolar disorders, including biochemical (melatonin and cortisol profiles), actigraphic (sleep/wake patterns), and dimensional (chronotypes) circadian markers. These associations are observed not only during acute episodes but also during euthymic periods. Most markers that are associated with bipolar disorders are also found in the healthy relatives of patients, suggesting a strong degree of heritability. As such, they may serve as trait markers of the disorder. Several circadian genes have been found to be associated with bipolar disorders: at least three studies have reported positive associations for each of CLOCK, NPAS2, ARNTL1, NR1D1, PER3, RORB and CSNK1epsilon. Thus the clock machinery may contribute to the genetic susceptibility to bipolar disorders. The circadian model theory has also led to the development of novel therapeutic strategies such as InterPersonal and Social Rhythms Therapy and chronotherapeutics. Additionally, the circadian model theory may help explain how mood stabilizers (in particular lithium carbonate) bring about their therapeutic effects.

2. INTRODUCTION

The etiology of bipolar disorders (BD) etiology is highly complex and involves interplay between psychological, physiological, genetic, and environmental factors. There has been an increasing amount of work investigating changes to the rhythmicity of circadian functions during periods of mania and depression. These

include changes in mood, appetite, sleep, and energy, which also manifest during periods of remission. Thus circadian abnormalities may be involved in the pathogenesis of BD and may serve as biomarkers of the disorder. Indeed, instability of circadian rhythms may be one of the major candidate endophenotypes in BD (1). Mood regulation is also closely connected to circadian variables in theoretical models. According to the "Social Zeitgeber theory", life events may trigger disruptions to circadian rhythms, leading to affective episodes in vulnerable individuals such as patients with BD (2). Murray and Harvey proposed a model to explain the spectrum of mood disorders (3). This model integrates a multitude of factors, including genetic susceptibility, sleep patterns, circadian functioning, the activity of neurotransmitters, and deregulation to mood. The authors suggest a genetic component to the disturbance of circadian rhythm: particular variants of candidate genes (mainly genes involved in circadian functions) may affect the speed and ease with which circadian rhythms can adapt to changing environmental conditions. Hence, such variants can predispose an individual to instability in circadian function and leave them prone to sleep disturbances.

In this review, we summarize current knowledge of circadian phenotypic and physiological disturbances in BD during periods of remission. We also review genetic association studies that suggest circadian genes are involved in susceptibility to BD. Finally we discuss the treatment of BD using chronotherapeutic strategies. The effectiveness of such strategies underlines the clinical relevance the circadian clock machinery in the management of BD, and further reinforces the idea that perturbation to this machinery plays a role in disease pathology.

For this purpose, we conducted an extensive review of the literature on circadian/sleep issues in BD. The publications were obtained from the PubMed electronic database in June 2013. The literature search was performed using four different combinations of the Mesh heading: 1) "Bipolar Disorder" AND ("circadian gene" OR "clock gene" OR "melatonergic gene"), 2) "Bipolar Disorder" AND ("chronotype" OR "circadian typology" OR "regularity"), 3)
"Bipolar Disorder" AND ("hormone" OR "cortisol" OR
"melatonine") 3) "Bipolar Disorder" AND ("sleep" OR "actigraphy" OR "actimetry" or "polysomnography"), 4) Disorder" "Bipolar AND "circadian" ("chronotherapeutics" OR "agomelatine" OR "melatonine" OR "ramelteon" OR "lithium" OR "valproate" OR "carbamazepine" OR "lamotrigine" OR "atypical antipsychotic" OR "light therapy" OR "psychoeducation" OR "interpersonal and social rhythm therapy"). We also used the 'related articles' function of the PubMed database and the reference lists of the studies identified, and we searched Google Scholar to identify additional articles. We included only data in articles published in English.

3. NEUROBIOLOGY OF THE CIRCADIAN SYSTEM

3.1. The molecular clock

Circadian rhythm is the term used for all physiological processes (biological and behavioral) displaying a periodicity of 24 hours ("circa diem"- "about a

day"). Anatomically "the master circadian pacemaker" is located in the suprachiasmatic nuclei (SCN), a paired cluster of about 10,000 neurons in the anterior hypothalamus. Clock mechanisms of the SCN comprise a complex network of transcriptional-translational feedback loops that result in the rhythmic expression of clock genes (on a time scale of just over 24 hours) (4). In the primary feed-back loop, CLOCK and BMAL1 (also known as ARNTL1) heterodimerize and initiate the transcription of genes containing E-box cis-regulatory enhancer sequences, including PER and CRY (figure 1). PER and CRY proteins heterodimerize and translocate to the nucleus and inhibit the CLOCK-BMAL1 complex, thereby creating a negative feedback loop that represses their own transcription. Another regulatory loop involves CLOCK-BMAL1 heterodimers, which activate the transcription of retinoic acid-related orphan nuclear receptors, REV-ERBalpha (or NR1D1) and RORA. Through ROREs (retinoic acid-related orphan receptor response elements) in the BMAL1 promoter, RORs and REV-ERBs regulate BMAL1: RORs activate, whereas REV-ERBs repress, transcription (4). TIMELESS dimerizes with PER and is thought to inhibit the CLOCK-BMAL1 transcription complex (5). CNSK1 family kinases phosphorylate PER and CRY and regulate the turnover of PER and CRY. GSK3beta phosphorylates TIMELESS and REV-ERB (6, 7). The physiology of the circadian system is common to all organisms, and there is a particularly high degree of conservation of core clock genes in very diverse species (8).

An intrinsic circadian rhythm is slightly longer than 24 hours and does not depend on any external time cues (referred to as a 'free-running rhythm'). However, endogenous oscillations (without changing periodicity) can synchronize with environmental time signals in a process called 'entrainment' (see for review (4)). The light-dark cycle is likely to be the most potent entraining time signal. Specialized retinal ganglion cells project through the retino-hypothalamic tract and are the main afferent input to the SCN. These cells use a photopigment called melanopsin, which is highly sensitive to blue light. The principal oscillator in the SCN sends information through various output pathways to regulate the rhythmic expression of Clock-Controlled Gene (CCGs). The expression of these genes controls rhythmic functions including sleep-wake cycle, feeding behavior, core body temperature, release of hormones, and metabolic regulation (4, 9). The expression and rhythmic regulation of clock genes is widely distributed among many peripheral cells (liver, endocrine tissues, heart, skeletal muscles...) (10, 11).

3.2. The melatoninergic system

A second major actor of the circadian system is the pineal gland, which synthesizes melatonin. Melatonin secretion is regulated by the environmental light/dark cycle via the SCN (12). Melatonin secretion is high during the dark phase of the light/dark cycle and decreases in response to light (13, 14), and also responds to seasonal changes in light. Hence, melatonin acts as an internal calendar and clock, or 'zeitgeber', (literally 'time giver') Melatonin can be assayed in blood, saliva, and urine (in the latter case by

measuring the melatonin urinary metabolite, 6-sulfatoxymelatonine). The most widely used circadian melatonin phase marker is the Dim Light Melatonin Onset (DLMO) (15). The DLMO is defined as the time at which the concentration of melatonin in the plasma rises above 10 pg/ml; this is normally between two or three hours before bedtime (16). The circulating melatonin concentration increases before bedtime, remains high during nocturnal sleep, and decreases rapidly around the time of awakening and is near or below the threshold of detection during the daytime. Body temperature and circulating cortisol concentrations follow inverse circadian variations (high during the daytime and low at night) (17).

3.3. The influence of circadian systems on neurotransmitter systems involved in regulating mood

Circadian systems and neurotransmitters systems are thought to be highly interconnected. Rhythmic deregulation of certain neurotransmission pathways may be involved in the pathophysiology of BD. Several neurotransmitters are implicated in mood regulation and these neurotransmitters shows circadian variation. Similarly, the enzymes responsible for the synthesis and catabolism of these neurotransmitters, along with the receptors to which these neurotransmitters bind, show circadian variations in their transcription and translation. This is particularly the case for serotonergic (18-21), dopaminergic (22-25) and noradrenergic (26, 27) neurotransmission.

One of the most densely populated serotonergic plexuses in the brain is located in SCN (28). This plexus is formed mainly of neurons from the median raphe nuclei (29). Lesion of the raphe nucleus or chemical blockade of serotonergic neurons leads to impairment of serotonergic function in the brain. Although this does not disrupt circadian rhythms, it does lead to a decrease in their amplitude and an alteration of their periodicity (30). Serotonin signaling via efferent pathways from median raphe nuclei increases the stability of circadian rhythms (31). Indeed, the serotonergic projection from the median raphe nuclei to the SCN may be the anatomical interface between circadian functions and mood disorders (32). Serotonin has also been implicated in the regulation of the SCN by photic (33-35) and non-photic zeitgebers (31, 36). Moreover, serotonergic activity is influenced by light exposure and time of year (37). Yan et al. identified molecular connections between serotonergic signaling and the regulation of TIMELESS in *Drosophila*: serotonergic signaling increased the phosphorylation of SHAGGY (homolog of human GSK3beta), resulting in a decrease of its activity and the light-induced degradation of TIMELESS (38). Connections between the metabolism of serotonin and melatonin are observed in the pineal gland. Melatonin is synthesized from serotonin and the SCN modulates the catabolism of serotonin into melatonin (39). Tryptophan is a common precursor of both serotonin and melatonin. Hence, the availability of this essential amino acid is crucial to the synthesis of these molecules, the production of both of which is cyclic with peaks at night time (40).

Dopamine signaling in the tegmental ventral area and substantia nigra is a key component of the wake/sleep cycle and is mostly involved in paradoxal sleep (41, 42). Dopaminergic signals, which are relayed via D2 receptors, regulate the activity of the CLOCK-BMAL1 complex (43). Dopamine is also a major chemical agent in the retina and seems to play an important role in the adaptation to light (44).

Few data are available on the interactions between circadian functions and noradrenergic neurotransmission. Noradrenalin is implicated in the metabolic activity of the pineal gland and therefore also in the regulation of the melatonin synthesis (45).

There may be a relationship between perturbation of biological circadian rhythms and dysfunction of monoaminergic neurotransmission in patients with BD. Indeed, the disruption of circadian rhythms and emotional imbalance may both be consequences of complex interactions between serotonergic, dopaminergic systems, and the circadian clock (3).

4. CIRCADIAN DISTURBANCES AS TRAIT MARKERS IN BIPOLAR DISORDERS

Patients with BD display persistent disturbances of circadian rhythms during both physiological and behavioral euthymic periods; it is possible that these circadian abnormalities could serve as trait biomarkers of BD. A 'biomarker' is a characteristic that can be objectively measured and evaluated as an indicator of normal biological processes, pathogenic processes or pharmacological responses to a therapeutic intervention (46). Measures or variables with any of following characteristics may be considered to be biomarkers of BD: (i) being detectable during normothymic periods and having a distinguishable characteristic or value associated with the presence of the disorder, (ii) being heritable among patients with BD and/or in the general population. (iii) being detectable among healthy first-degree relatives of patients or populations at high-risk for the disorder (47). A biomarker can be qualified as an intermediate phenotype if it is a mechanism-based manifestation of a complex phenotype, and as an endophenotype if it is a heritable intermediate phenotype associated with a disease (48). In the following paragraphs, we will describe circadian biomarkers that fulfill some of these criteria.

4.1. Lifestyle regularity

Lifestyle regularity can be assessed using several approaches. For example, patients with mood disorders may be asked to keep a diary; one of the most frequently used is the Social Rhythm Metric (SRM) (49, 50). The SRM assesses the effect of daily routine - social and occupational rhythms - on sleep quantity and quality. High regularity of lifestyle is associated to fewer sleep problems (51) and to a preference for being active in the morning (52), indicating that the regularity of social rhythms, diurnal preference, and sleep quality are highly interconnected.

Sylvia *et al.* showed that patients with BD exhibited less regularity of lifestyle than healthy controls (53). This was confirmed by another study using the BRIAN (Biological Rhythms Interview of Assessment in Neuropsychiatry) (54). People with a 'hypomanic personality' - at risk of BD - showed a lower regularity of daily activities than controls, with more variation in the duration of sleep (55). Irregular social rhythms were also observed in a sample of 414 undergraduate students diagnosed with bipolar spectrum disorders (cyclothymia or BD type 2), and appeared to be a significant predictor of the onset of major depressive, hypomanic, and manic episodes in the following three years (56).

These reports are consistent with the theory that bipolar spectrum patients have irregular social daily routines. These social rhythms can be considered as 'social zeitgebers' - synchronizers that help set the circadian clock. Irregularity in an individual's social zeitgebers may precipitate or contribute to mood relapse (57).

4.2. Morningness-eveningness typology

Questionnaires, such as the Horne-Östberg morningness-eveningness questionnaire, the Composite Scale of Morningness (CSM) (58), or the Munich ChronoType Questionnaire (59) are used categorize quantitatively individuals as 'morning types' or 'evening types', or in the case of extreme circadian tendencies, as 'larks' or 'owls'. These questionnaires assess diurnal preference (chronotype) for times of activity/sleep, i.e. the rhythm that an individual would like to adopt as opposed to the rhythm an individual is forced to adopt due to life constraints. Diurnal preference is a highly informative measure because morningness-eveningness correlate strongly with other endogenous phase markers of the circadian clock, such as body temperature (60, 61), the amount and timing of salivary melatonin secretion (62), awakening cortisol response Morningness/eveningness is stable over time, as confirmed in various populations with different cultural habits (64.

Five studies in populations with different cultures showed that patients with BD were more likely to be of an 'evening type' than were control individuals (66-69) or patients with recurrent major depressive disorder (70). Wood et al. showed that age-corrected CSM scores did not differ significantly between BD type 1 and BD type 2, suggesting CSM score is a useful biomarker for a large spectrum of BD (66). Wood et al. noted also a significant correlation between CSM scores measured two years apart in patients with BD, implying that diurnal preference in patients has temporal stability (66). Some manifestations of severe forms of bipolar disorders are correlated to eveningness. These manifestations include depressive mood ratings, anxiety, substance abuse, childhood disruptive behavioral disorders (66), early ageof-onset, and rapid cycling course (68). The finding that patients with more severe depressive mood symptoms are more likely to be evening types (66) is consistent with the findings showing that depression is correlated with eveningness in general population (71).

Boudebesse *et al.* used the CSM and also the Circadian Type Inventory (CTI) - a self-assessment questionnaire reflecting rhythm stability and amplitude - in their assessment of diurnal preference in patients with BD (72). They found that patients with BD had higher scores of eveningness and were also significantly more languid than controls. Patients also reported a higher sensitivity to sleep reduction and were more lethargic following a reduction in the time of sleep. This result is consistent with a reduction in the peak of the melatonin abundance at night in patients with BD (see 4.5.2) and the high irregularity of their activity rhythms as measured by actigraphy (see 4.3).

Four, large independent studies in the general population suggest that diurnal preference is a heritable trait (73-76). Consistent with this view, diurnal preference is similar between patients with BD and their healthy monozygotic or dizygotic twins (77).

Thus, diurnal preference or chronotype may be a robust biomarker of BD, because it is associated with the disorder, is stable over time, and is heritable. Studies involving the unaffected relatives of patients with BD are needed to demonstrate whether or not diurnal preference is an endophenotype of BD. Nonetheless, we can conclude that it is at least an intermediate marker of the disorder.

4.3. Sleep-wake cycle

Sleep-wake cycles can be measured by polysomnography (PSG) and actigraphy. PSG is the gold standard in sleep research and assesses sleep architecture, continuity and quality of sleep in a laboratory setting. An actigraph is a wristwatch-like tool that consists of an accelerometer that detects, scores, and stores information about the intensity and the timing of motion over several, consecutive 24-hour intervals. In comparison with PSG, actigraphy has the advantage of providing an ambulatory assessment of both sleep and circadian rhythms over time in the subject's home setting (78). In addition actigraphy is a valid tool for estimating sleep duration and fragmentation in BD; indeed, these estimates match closely those obtained using PSG and sleep diaries (79).

The sleep-wake cycle, as assessed by PSG, is altered in patients with BD during manic or depressive episodes, but also during periods of remission. Indeed, during periods of remission, patients with BD had a high density of rapid eye movement (REM) during the first REM period of sleep. Additionally, these patients were highly sensitive to the cholinergic receptor agonist arecoline, and showed a higher percentage of REM sleep after administration of this drug (80). Nocturnal arousals were observed more frequently in patients undergoing periods of remission than in normal controls (81).

Eight studies characterized circadian rhythms using actigraphy in euthymic patients with BD as compared to healthy controls, "good sleepers" or patients with insomnia (82-89). On the whole, these studies suggest that euthymic patients with BD have a greater variability in their sleep/wake patterns, longer sleep duration, longer sleep latency, higher WASO (Wake After Sleep Onset),

and lower sleep efficiency than insomniacs or controls. Two of these studies also reported that the daily activity of patients with BD undergoing periods of remission was lower than that of control participants (83, 88).

Using actigraphy, Ankers and Johns showed that individuals at high-risk of developing bipolar spectrum disorders exhibited greater variability in the duration, fragmentation, and efficiency of sleep, shorter sleep duration, later and more variable bedtimes, and lower relative amplitude of activity patterns than controls (90). A greater variability in sleep fragmentation and shorter sleep latency were observed in the children of patients with BD than in the children of parents without a psychiatric condition (91).

Twin- and family-based studies show that sleep length is heritable ($h^2=0.44$). In one study, the contribution of genetics to variance in sleep quality and to sleep disturbance was 33%, and to variance in sleep pattern 40% (92). Work based on using sleep questionnaires and PSG also provides evidence for a genetic contribution to pathological sleep patterns (93).

4.5. Neuroendocrine and other physiological parameters

4.5.1. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis: cortisol

Cortisol secretion follows a 24 h cycle. In healthy individuals, cortisol secretion has a morning peak. In a given individual from the general population, the cortisol awakening response is highly regular across extended periods (94).

Cortisol is one of the most studied circadian markers of BD. Cortisol secretion over 24 hours is significantly higher in patients with BD than in controls, irrespective of the phase of BD (manic, depressive, or euthymic). (95). Patients with BD type 1, who were kept euthymic for a long period of time using lithium prophylaxis, had significantly higher salivary cortisol concentrations upon awakening, than both control subjects in the study and than the large numbers of healthy subjects for who the relevant data has been published (96). The abundance of glucocorticoid mRNA in the hippocampi and amygdala nuclei was lower in patients with BD than in healthy controls (97). Hence, hypercortisolemia in BD may be related to a low abundance of glucocorticoid mRNA.

In healthy monozygotic and dizygotic twins, the heritability of cortisol secretion has been estimated to be 62% (98). The cortisol awakening response may be the most heritable circadian measure (99, 100), however it is not the most useful biomarker for affective disorders. Instead, high secretion of cortisol in the evening may be associated with a high risk of developing affective disorders, particularly in specific high-risk affective disorders population (101).

In one study, the salivary cortisol concentration in the afternoon was higher in the offspring of parents with BD than in the offspring of parents with no mental disorder (102). This difference was stable over a follow-up period of two years. A difference in the secretion of afternoon cortisol was also observed between bipolar twins and their healthy twins (101). However, this endophenotypic characteristic of cortisol secretion has not been consistently replicated (103).

Hence, dysfunction of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis that results in alterations to cortisol secretion may be a trait (rather than state) marker of BD.

4.5.2. Pineal function: melatonin

Abnormalities of melatonin secretion, in particular hypersensitivity to light, may be a trait marker of BD. Two studies report that the reduction of nocturnal plasma melatonin concentrations in response to light was two-fold greater in acutely ill and euthymic drug-free patients than in healthy controls (104, 105). However, this finding was not replicated elsewhere (106, 107). In euthymic BD type 1patients who were exposed to light during the night time, melatonin secretion was low following exposure to light (108). In addition, melatonin secretion prior to light exposure was low and also showed a late peak time of secretion during the night time in these patients. Circulating melatonin concentrations during the night are similar in patients with BD irrespective of illness state (i.e. manic, depressive and euthymic phases), but lower than in healthy controls. These studies suggest that low serum melatonin levels is a trait but not a state marker in BD(109).

No difference in the total pineal volume between patients with BD and healthy subjects was observed using a voxel-based volumetric measurement method (110). Hence, the putative dysfunction of the pineal gland in BD is not correlated with the parenchymatous volume, but presumably with some other functional aspects of the gland.

By studying monozygotic and dizygotic twins with no history of psychiatric disorders, Hallam *et al.* found that nocturnal melatonin secretion and sensitivity to light have a genetic component (111).

The healthy offspring of bipolar parents are more likely to show supersensitivity in the melatonin response to light exposure during the night than age-matched controls (45% more sensitive than controls). Furthermore, this supersensitivity was more pronounced in the healthy offspring of couples who were both affected by major affective disorder than in children with only one parent affected by major affective disorder (72% increase in sensitivity versus controls and 57% of increase versus controls respectively) (112).

The total amount of melatonin in the plasma is similar between patients with BD and healthy individuals. However, in patients with BD, melatonin secretion shows abnormal changes in amplitude and periodicity, suggesting that abnormalities in melatonin secretion are a marker of BD.

4.5.3. Other hormones

The secretion profiles of many circadian hormones have been studied in patients with BD in various mood states. There is little evidence to suggest that

Table 1. Circadian parameters as potential trait markers and endophenotypes in bipolar disorders: studies demonstrated trait markers and endophenotypes in bipolar disorders:	rating positive
correlation	

Circadian parameter	Association with bipolar disorders	Presence during remission	Heritability	Over-represented amonghigh risk subjects for bipolar disorders
Lifestyle irregularity	Yes	Yes	?	Yes
Evening-type	Yes	Yes	Yes	?
Higher sleep-wake cycle variability	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Higher cortisol secretion	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
			(awaking)	(afternoon)
Supersensitivity of nocturnal plasma melatonin in response to light	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Lower overnight serum melatonin	Yes	Yes	Yes	?

abnormalities in the secretion of these hormones are trait markers in BD (113). Nonetheless, there are some arguments that favor such a notion, including perturbation of luteinising hormone during mania (114), thyroid stimulating hormone during depressive states (115, 116). Studies that have examined perturbation of the secretion of circadian hormones in patients in remission periods are scarce. The secretion profiles of other neuroendocrine hormones, such as prolactin or growth hormone are not clearly different between patients with BD and controls (117, 118).

4.5.4. Body temperature

Variations in body temperature follow a 24-hour cycle, and can be considered as a circadian marker. In general populations, body temperature decreases during the night-time and increases during the day-time. Body temperature is also tightly associated with other circadian variables such as sleep (119). One study found that body temperature was deregulated in patients with BD during mood episodes (116), although this finding has not since been replicated. Again, studies examining this relationship in patients during remission periods are lacking.

In conclusion, several circadian functions seem to fulfill criteria for being (endo)phenotypes in BD. These include secretion profiles for the circadian hormones cortisol and melatonin, and diurnal preference as assessed by actimetry or validated questionnaires (Table 1).

5. CIRCADIAN GENES AND BIPOLAR DISORDERS

Patients with BD display major disruptions of circadian rhythms and at least some of these characteristics appear to be heritable. These observations suggest the existence of susceptibility genes encoding proteins involved in these chronobiological processes, and thus putative candidate genes for BD and its clinical expression. Various studies favor this hypothesis, including classical genetic association studies, copy number variation analysis (CNV), genome-wide association studies (GWAS), animal models, transcriptomics/proteomics, and Convergent Functional Genomics (CFG).

5.1. Candidate genes: association studies

Genetic association studies suggest associations between single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) in circadian genes and the occurrence of BD. The results of these studies are summarized in Table 2. Several circadian genes have been found to be associated with BD, with at

least three studies implicating CLOCK, NPAS2, ARNTL1, NR1D1, PER3, RORB and CSNKepsilon. Appropriate meta-analyses would undoubtedly add further support to these associations. Lachman et al. reported that the frequency of a CNV in the GSK3beta locus was higher in patients with BD than in controls (120). This association between GSK3beta and BD was not suggested by association studies using single nucleotide polymorphisms (121-123).

5.2. Other molecular approaches

Besides classical genetic association studies using candidate genes, other molecular approaches have implicated several circadian genes in the pathophysiology of BD. One approach involves the analysis of circadian rhythms in cultured cells derived from human skin biopsies, blood samples (124), or hair follicles cells (125). This approach allows the measurement of circadian rhythmicity without the influence of external zeitgebers and has the obvious advantage that the subject under study need not spend prolonged periods of time in the laboratory. Remarkably, circadian functions, including the amplitude and phase-resetting responses, in human fibroblasts in culture correlated with chronotypes of subjects from which the cells were derived (126). Using a transcriptomic approach, Yang et al. demonstrated that the amplitude of rhythmic expression of BMAL1, REV-ERBalpha and DBP, was lower in fibroblasts derived from patients with BD than in those from controls (127). The overall mRNA expression level for DEC2 and DBP and the level of GSK3beta phosphorylation were also reduced. Hence, susceptibility to BD involving circadian genes involves both genetic variations (SNPs, mutations or CNV) but also differences in their transcriptional output.

Circadian genes have also been implicated in "bipolar-like" behaviors in animal models. The most cited example is the behavior of mice carrying a deletion of exon 19 in the *CLOCK* gene, which represents a valuable model of mania (128). *Clock* mutant mice show a craving for rewarding stimuli similar to patients with BD in the manic state. These mice also display other behavioral responses associated with mania including less depression-like behavior and lowered anxiety. The manic-like behavior of the *Clock* mutant mice can be reversed by lithium treatment or the restoration of a functional CLOCK gene in the Ventral Tegmental Area (129). Other examples of mouse models involving circadian genes include transgenic mice overexpressing *GSK3beta* which show a manic-like

 Table 2. Studies supporting associations between circadian

genes and bipolar disorders

Gene	OMIM nomenclature	Positive studies
CLOCK	CircadianLocomotor Output	(123, 141, 142,
	Cycles Kaput	187)
NPAS2	Neuronal PAS Domain Protein 2	(123, 187, 188)
ARNTL1 (or	Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor	(122, 187-190)
BMAL1)	Nuclear Translocator-like 1 (or	
	Brain and muscle ARNT like 1)	
ARNTL2 (or	Aryl Hydrocarbon Receptor	(187)
BMAL2)	Nuclear Translocator-like 2	
	(orBrain and muscle ARNT like	
	2)	
PER1	Periodhomolog 1 (Drosophila)	(123)
PER2	Periodhomolog 2 (Drosophila)	(123)
PER3	Periodhomolog 3 (Drosophila)	(122, 187, 189)
CRYI	Cryptochrome 1	(187)
CRY2	Cryptochrome 2	(188)
TIMELESS	Timeless homolog (Drosophila)	(189)
NR1D1 (or	Nuclear receptor subfamily 1,	$(123, 138)(191)^1$
REV-	group D, member 1 (or orphan	
ERBalpha)	nuclear receptor REV-ERBalpha)	
RORA	Retinoid-related orphan receptor	(187)
	A	_
RORB	Retinoid-related orphan receptor	$(188, 190)(192)^2$
CSNK1delta	Casein kinase 1 delta	(123, 193)
CSNK1epsilon	Casein kinase 1 epsilon	(141, 187, 188,
Chritiepsiion	Casem kmase i epsilon	193)
GSK3beta	Glycogensynthasekinase 3 beta	(194) ¹
BHLHB2	Basic Helix-Loop-Helix domain	(141)
	containing, class B, 2	(*)
BHLHB3 (or	Basic Helix-Loop-Helix domain	(187)
DEC2)	containing, class B, 3	()
PPARGC1B	Peroxisome proliferator-activated	(123)
	receptor-gamma, coactivator 1	(-)
	beta	
DEC1	Deleted in esophageal cancer 1	(190)
MTNR1A	Melatoninreceptor 1A	
MTNR1B	Melatoninreceptor 1B	
ASMT	Acetylserotoninmethyltransferase	(195)
AANAT	Arylalkylamine N-	. /
	acetyltransferase	i

¹association observed only for females with bipolar disorders (191, 194), ²association for pediatric bipolar disorder (192)

phenotype (130), *DBP* knockout mice which exhibit a short duration of sleep and sleep EEG abnormalities, and *Cry1* knockout mice that have a poorly synchronized circadian rhythmicity (131).

These data coming from different experimental approaches in different organism contexts have proven difficult to unify. In this respect, the results obtained using Convergent Functional Genomics (CFG) are particularly useful. This approach integrates data from gene expression studies in animal models with data from human genetic linkage/association studies, as well as data obtained from human tissue (blood, postmortem brain). Findings from CFG suggest that some top candidate genes for BD (such as *ARNTL1*, *GSK3beta*, *RORA* and *RORB*) are implicated in the regulation of circadian rhythms (132, 133).

5.3. Phenotypic expression associated with circadian genes and pharmacogenetics

It remains unclear whether genetic variants of circadian genes are implicated in the genetic susceptibility to BD, or whether they act as disease modifiers, being associated not with the disorder *per se* but with its clinical

expression. In BD, several circadian genes have been associated with an early age of onset (*PER3*, *REV-ERBalpha*, *GSK3beta*) (134-138) and/or with a high recurrence of illness (*GSK3beta*, *CLOCK*) (139). Some circadian genes are associated to rapid cycling of BD: *CRY2* (140), *CLOCK*, *ARNTL2*, *TIMELESS* and *CSNK1epsilon* (141). Therefore, particular circadian genes may be important in a certain subgroup of BD (early onset subgroup), or they may be important in modulating the pattern of recurrences. In either case, these genes are associated with problems in the synchronization of circadian rhythms and a high sensitivity to external cues, both of which could facilitate disease onset or relapses.

Studies that have examined the relationship between circadian gene variants and chronotypes in patients with BD are rare, despite a strong interest to understand genetic susceptibility to BD and its possible links to circadian genes. To date, only two studies have been published: the 3111T/C variant in CLOCK was associated with an extreme evening type in a Korean bipolar population (142), and a non-synonymous coding SNP in PER3 and two intronic SNPs in CSNK1epsilon were associated with eveningness (as assessed with the Basic Language Morningness score) among patients with BD (123). Further studies are required to correlate genotype to phenotypes in BD. Such studies will identify intermediate phenotypes in BD that may serve as clinical markers (such as eveningness) and their genetic underpinnings.

Finally, some circadian genes may also be implicated in pharmacogenetics. The mechanisms responsible for the therapeutic effects of lithium are far from understood. Nonetheless, one of the major effects of lithium is the inhibition of GSK3beta (143), which is believed to play a central role in mood regulation (144). Patient responses to lithium salts may be partly determined by inter-individual differences in biological clocks. In patients with BD, a polymorphism (-50T/C) in the proximal promoter region of GSK3beta is associated with patient response to lithium therapy, with a TT genotype being associated with a poor response (137). This genotype is also associated with an early age of onset of BD (134), consistent with the observation that early-onset patients with BD respond poorly to lithium (145). Evidence linking variants in the NR1D1 gene and poor response to lithium has also been reported (146), although this was not replicated (147). Some circadian genes may be markers of therapeutic response rather than markers of the disorder itself.

To date, the role of circadian gene in the genetic susceptibility to BD remains to be clarified because it is unclear if these genes are risk factors for the disorder itself or if they are clinical modulators or markers of a therapeutic response.

6. CHRONOTHERAPEUTIC ASPECTS IN BIPOLAR DISORDERS

Understanding the role of circadian disturbances in BD will be useful for a better understanding of the

disease pathology, but will also help to direct strategies of pharmacological and psychotherapeutic interventions.

6.1. Manipulating circadian rhythms using photic input

Chronotherapeutics relies on the controlled exposure to environmental stimuli, in particular controlled photic input, with the aim of influencing biological rhythms to achieve therapeutic effects. Several techniques have been proposed as useful in the management of patients with BD, mainly during acute phases of the disease. These techniques include light therapy and sleep deprivation, and less frequently dark therapy and extended bed rest. However, it is not known if such measures are effective, because randomized controlled versus placebo clinical trials are lacking. Therefore, these treatments are not standardized clinical interventions that should be currently used for the routine management of patients with BD, although various practices may be beneficial for some patients. Patients with BD may respond more quickly to antidepressants or mood stabilizers if these treatments are given in combination with sleep deprivation (148-150). Additionally, light therapy may be effective for the treatment of bipolar depression (151, 152). Forty-nine patients with BD who received medication (mood stabilizer and antidepressant) in combination with three established circadian-related treatments (sleep deprivation, bright light, sleep phase advance) showed a more rapid and sustained decrease in depression scores than a medication-only group (153). Some reports suggest that manic symptoms or rapid cycling can be reduced by dark therapy (154, 155) or by amber lenses that block blue light (156).

Chronotherapeutics are believed to target the same neurotransmitter systems and the same brain areas as psychotropic drugs. The effects of chronotherapeutics are rapid and transient. However, a more enduring therapeutic effect could be obtained by combining chronotherapeutic techniques with each other or with common drug treatments. Chronotherapeutics may be useful during the acute phases of BD, but their relevance during the remission periods is unclear.

6.2. Inter-Personal and Social Rhythm Therapy and psychoeducation

Evidence from clinical practice and sleep log studies suggest that psychosocial stressors and low regularity in social rhythm are associated with a high risk of mood relapses in BD (see 4.1.). Some psychological interventions that are used in patients with BD aim to target the disruption of circadian rhythms, particularly the disruption of sleep-wakes cycles. Frank et al. developed the Inter-Personal and Social Rhythm Therapy (IPSRT), which combines a modified form of interpersonal therapy and a social rhythm therapy. BD type 1 patients who received this therapy showed a greater improvement in the stability of routines (sleep, meal, exercise) than BD type I patients treated only with medication. In acute phase patients treated with IPSRT, an increase in the regularity of social rhythms was associated with a positive long-term response to treatment, resulting in longer survival times between episodes in a two-year preventive maintenance program (157). The efficacy of IPSRT therapy was confirmed in two

controlled studies and extended to BD type 2 (158). Psychoeducation showed efficacy in preventing relapses in patients with BD. This treatment involves sessions that stress the importance of life-style regularity, even if this variable is not the main target (159).

The effectiveness of psychotherapies that aim to improve the regularity of daily social rhythms is further evidence that external triggers (e.g., environmental zeitgebers) that influence circadian rhythms can affect mood in patients with BD. Accordingly, these treatments and their effects also suggest that circadian functions are vulnerable to disruption in patients with BD.

6.3. Non-focused circadian pharmacological treatments

Most patients with BD have circadian rhythms that run faster than one cycle per 24 hours (160, 161). Mood-stabilizers, and in particular the gold standard for mood stabilizers, lithium, may work in part via a chronobiological mechanism. Lithium has phasedelaying properties because it causes a lengthening of the circadian period in a variety of organisms, including humans (162, 163). Lithium also enhances the amplitude of PER2 protein cycling in the central and peripheral circadian clockwork (164). Transgenic mice carrying a mutation in the Clock gene display a human mania-like behavior, which reverts to a near normal state following the chronic administration of lithium (129). Some circadian genes (GSK3beta, NR1D1) have also been implicated in pharmacogenetics, because they are associated with differential responses to mood stabilizers, and in particular to lithium (see 5.3).

Low doses of lithium carbonate reduce melatonin secretion in response to light in healthy volunteers, suggesting that lithium also acts on the melatonergic system (165). This property is shared with sodium valproate, another mood stabilizer (166). Valproic acid also increases the amount of melatonin receptors in C6 glioma cells (167) and influences the expression of several circadian genes in the amygdala (168).

There are currently no relevant data available for other mood stabilizers that are frequently prescribed in maintenance phases in BD (carbamazepine, lamotrigine, atypical antipsychotics).

6.4. Focused circadian pharmacological treatments

Focused treatments are those that directly act on the circadian or melatonergic systems. These include exogenous melatonin and melatonin receptor agonists that have the potential to synchronize the sleep/wake cycle. The efficacy of these treatments is unclear because they have rarely been specifically studied. There has been only a handful of case reports describing patients in manic, depressive or rapid-cycling phases of BD given focused treatments in combination with various regimens of mood stabilizers (169-172). These reports suggest that melatonin – as an adjunctive treatment – can be effective in improving sleep quality. However, these studies are insufficient to support the routine use of melatonin in the treatment of BD.

Ramelteon is a melatonin receptor agonist that is used for insomniacs and people who have difficulty falling asleep. Euthymic patients with BD, who took ramelteon during a treatment period of 24-weeks, were more stable in the maintenance phase and showed a longer time before relapse than patients taking a placebo (173).

Agomelatin is a melatonin receptor agonist and a serotonin 5-HT(2C) receptor antagonist. Agomelatin was found to synchronize circadian rhythms involving body temperature, cortisol and other hormones in animal models and in humans, which may underlie some of its therapeutic effects (174). Three studies have reported the efficacy of agomelatin as an adjunctive treatment in bipolar depression (175-177).

In conclusion, direct manipulation of circadian rhythms using photic stimuli or rhythms therapy appears to be most effective in the depressive acute phases of BD. The utility of chronotherapeutics in acute manic phases requires further investigation. For the maintenance phase of the disorder, the strongest evidence that circadian functions may be targeted to achieve a therapeutic effect comes from IPSRT (focused on rhythms) and lithium (non-focused on rhythms) therapies. Concerning lithium carbonate, it would be useful to explore what circadian characteristics are predictive of good clinical responses, to help define the circadian profile of subjects who are more likely to be good responders.

7. PERSPECTIVES

Several lines of evidence (clinical, physiological, biological, genetic and therapeutic) suggest that disruption to circadian rhythms may be involved in the pathophysiology of BD. Clinical data regarding evening preference and actigraphic variables are relatively consistent across studies. Physiological data regarding cortisol and melatonin secretion profiles may also be informative for the understanding and diagnosis of BD, although their fidelity as biomarkers seems less certain and questions still remain regarding the relevant measure to use (cortisol awakening response, dim light melatonin onset). Genetic association studies implicate several circadian genes - CLOCK, ARNTL2, GSK3beta, PER3 and NR1D1 in the susceptibility to BD and/or its phenotypic expression. However, in these studies the level of significance was sometimes low due to small sample sizes and/or corrections for the large numbers of variants being tested. The use of chronotherapeutics (both pharmaceutical and nonpharmaceutical) in patients with BD reinforces the hypothesis that major disruptions in circadian regulation are an underlying cause of BD. Focused-circadian behavioral therapy including IPSRT has been successful in treating patients with BD. Finally, details of the mechanisms of the therapeutic effects of mood stabilizers are emerging: it may be that they act by regulating circadian rhythms.

Studies among healthy first-degree relatives of patients with BD are required to elucidate more details about the endophenotypic aspects of most circadian markers. Cortisol and melatonin profile or actimetric features may constitute endophenotypes, according to

studies in first-degree relatives of patients with BD. However, little is known about the heritability of chronotypes and more research is necessary to test the hypothesis of evening type as endophenotype.

A second major issue is the specificity of such markers to BD. Ideally a marker should help to delineate or to discriminate nosographical entities. This is probably not the case for circadian markers, as several of them are also associated with other psychiatric conditions. Several examples of this lack of specificity have been reported in the literature. Harvey and colleagues have discussed the specific versus transnosographic aspects of some sleep-related markers (178). For example, eveningness has been found to be associated with other mood spectrum disorders such as depressive states (179-182) and seasonal affective disorder (183), and also with Attention Deficit Hyperactivity Disorder (184, 185) and some personality traits (186). Therefore, vulnerability of the time keeping system and a misalignment between endogenous and exogenous synchronizers may be common to a number of disorders including BD.

Concerning the involvement of circadian genes in BD, various questions remain unsolved: the number and nature of the associated genes, the specificity of these associations to BD, and the role of these genes in the genetic susceptibility to BD and/or in the phenotypic modulation of the disorders. Indeed, it remains unclear whether circadian genes predispose to BD *per se* or to a more severe form of BD characterized by an early age at onset, a higher sensibility to relapses, and a poor response to lithium. The identification and better understanding of phenotype/genotype correlations would greatly facilitate exploration of the relationship between these genes, circadian markers, and the clinical manifestation of the disorders.

Circadian markers can be considered as the readout of stable, trait-like, deregulation to circadian functions in individuals with BD. Circadian genes may also play a role in the genetic susceptibility to BD. The number of investigations of the relationship between BD and circadian genes, chronotypes, and circadian physiological processes is growing, and their findings strongly suggest that chronobiology may help to clarify the underlying mechanisms of mood disorders. Furthermore, chronotherapeutics may add new weapons to the current arsenal of treatments for BD. Light therapy, sleep deprivation and specific behavioral therapy, including IPSRT, have shown efficiency in the management of BD. Lithium salts may also act by affecting circadian rhythmicity. The study of circadian phenotypes and circadian genes in bipolar disorders constitutes a major field of both clinical and fundamental research that may reveal the pathophysiological determinants of the disorder; this may in turn lead to the development of personalized psychosocial and psychotropic treatments for patients.

8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Financial support: this work was supported by the *Fondation pour la Recherche Medicale* (VM) and the foundation *FondaMental* (CB).

9. REFERENCES

- 1. G Hasler, WC Drevets, TD Gould, II Gottesman, HK Manji: Toward constructing an endophenotype strategy for bipolar disorders. *Biol Psychiatry* 60, 93-105 (2006)
- 2. LD Grandin, LB Alloy, LY Abramson: The social zeitgeber theory, circadian rhythms, and mood disorders: review and evaluation. *Clin Psychol Rev* 26, 679-694 (2006)
- 3. G Murray, A Harvey: Circadian rhythms and sleep in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord* 12, 459-472 (2010)
- 4. JS Takahashi, HK Hong, CH Ko, EL McDearmon: The genetics of mammalian circadian order and disorder: implications for physiology and disease. *Nat Rev Genet* 9, 764-775 (2008)
- 5. H Dardente, N Cermakian: Molecular circadian rhythms in central and peripheral clocks in mammals. *Chronobiol Int* 24, 195-213 (2007)
- 6. S Martinek, S Inonog, AS Manoukian, MW Young: A role for the segment polarity gene shaggy/GSK-3 in the Drosophila circadian clock. *Cell* 105, 769-779 (2001)
- 7. L Yin, J Wang, PS Klein, MA Lazar: Nuclear receptor Rev-erbalpha is a critical lithium-sensitive component of the circadian clock. *Science* 311, 1002-1005 (2006)
- 8. D Bell-Pedersen, VM Cassone, DJ Earnest, SS Golden, PE Hardin, TL Thomas, MJ Zoran: Circadian rhythms from multiple oscillators: lessons from diverse organisms. *Nat Rev Genet* 6, 544-556 (2005)
- 9. S Panda, MP Antoch, BH Miller, AI Su, AB Schook, M Straume, PG Schultz, SA Kay, JS Takahashi, JB Hogenesch: Coordinated transcription of key pathways in the mouse by the circadian clock. *Cell* 109, 307-320 (2002)
- 10. S Yamazaki, R Numano, M Abe, A Hida, R Takahashi, M Ueda, GD Block, Y Sakaki, M Menaker, H Tei: Resetting central and peripheral circadian oscillators in transgenic rats. *Science* 288, 682-685 (2000)
- 11. M Hastings, JS O'Neill, ES Maywood: Circadian clocks: regulators of endocrine and metabolic rhythms. *J Endocrinol* 195, 187-198 (2007)
- 12. SR Pandi-Perumal, V Srinivasan, GJ Maestroni, DP Cardinali, B Poeggeler, R Hardeland: Melatonin: Nature's most versatile biological signal? *FEBS J* 273, 2813-2838 (2006)
- 13. AJ Lewy, TA Wehr, FK Goodwin, DA Newsome, SP Markey: Light suppresses melatonin secretion in humans. *Science* 210, 1267-1269 (1980)
- 14. JM Zeitzer, DJ Dijk, R Kronauer, E Brown, C Czeisler: Sensitivity of the human circadian pacemaker to nocturnal

- light: melatonin phase resetting and suppression. *J Physiol* 526, 695-702 (2000)
- 15. S Benloucif, HJ Burgess, EB Klerman, AJ Lewy, B Middleton, PJ Murphy, BL Parry, VL Revell: Measuring melatonin in humans. *J Clin Sleep Med* 4, 66-69 (2008)
- 16. AJ Lewy, RL Sack: The dim light melatonin onset as a marker for circadian phase position. *Chronobiol Int* 6, 93-102 (1989)
- 17. WA Hofstra, AW de Weerd: How to assess circadian rhythm in humans: a review of literature. *Epilepsy Behav* 13, 438-444 (2008)
- 18. W Wesemann, N Weiner: Circadian rhythm of serotonin binding in rat brain. *Prog Neurobiol* 35, 405-428 (1990)
- 19. N Weiner, HW Clement, D Gemsa, W Wesemann: Circadian and seasonal rhythms of 5-HT receptor subtypes, membrane anisotropy and 5-HT release in hippocampus and cortex of the rat. *Neurochem Int* 21, 7-14 (1992)
- 20. S. Barassin, S Raison, M Saboureau, C Bienvenu, M Maitre, A Malan, P Pevet: Circadian tryptophan hydroxylase levels and serotonin release in the suprachiasmatic nucleus of the rat. *Eur J Neurosci* 15, 833-840 (2002)
- 21. ZS Malek, H Dardente, P Pevet, S Raison: Tissue-specific expression of tryptophan hydroxylase mRNAs in the rat midbrain: anatomical evidence and daily profiles. *Eur J Neurosci* 22, 895-901 (2005)
- 22. KR Shieh, YS Chu, JT Pan: Circadian change of dopaminergic neuron activity: effects of constant light and melatonin. *Neuroreport* 8, 2283-2287 (1997)
- 23. H Khaldy, J Leon, G Escames, L Bikjdaouene, JJ Garcia, D Acuna-Castroviejo: Circadian rhythms of dopamine and dihydroxyphenyl acetic acid in the mouse striatum: effects of pinealectomy and of melatonin treatment. *Neuroendocrinology* 75, 201-208 (2002)
- 24. TR Castaneda, BM de Prado, D Prieto, F Mora: Circadian rhythms of dopamine, glutamate and GABA in the striatum and nucleus accumbens of the awake rat: modulation by light. *J Pineal Res* 36, 177-185 (2004)
- 25. M Akhisaroglu, M Kurtuncu, H Manev, T Uz: Diurnal rhythms in quinpirole-induced locomotor behaviors and striatal D2/D3 receptor levels in mice. *Pharmacol Biochem Behav* 80, 371-377 (2005)
- 26. SL Coon, SK McCune, D Sugden, DC Klein: Regulation of pineal alpha1B-adrenergic receptor mRNA: day/night rhythm and beta-adrenergic receptor/cyclic AMP control. *Mol Pharmacol* 51, 551-557 (1997)
- 27. G Aston-Jones, S Chen, Y Zhu, ML Oshinsky: A neural circuit for circadian regulation of arousal. *Nat Neurosci* 4, 732-738 (2001)

- 28. LP Morin: Serotonin and the regulation of mammalian circadian rhythmicity. *Ann Med* 31, 12-33 (1999)
- 29. RY Moore, JC Speh: Serotonin innervation of the primate suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Brain Res* 1010, 169-173 (2004)
- 30. RA Prosser: Serotoninergic actions and interactions on the SCN circadian pacemaker: In vitro investigations. *Biol Rhythm Res* 31, 315-339 (2000)
- 31. J Hannibal, J Fahrenkrug: Neuronal input pathways to the brain's biological clock and their functional significance. *Adv Anat Embryol Cell Biol* 182, 1-71 (2006)
- 32. V Reghunandanan, R Reghunandanan: Neurotransmitters of the suprachiasmatic nuclei. *J Circadian Rhythms* 4, 2 (2006)
- 33. SW Ying, B Rusak: Effects of serotonergic agonists on firing rates of photically responsive cells in the hamster suprachiasmatic nucleus. *Brain Res* 651, 37-46 (1994)
- 34. MA Rea, J Barrera, JD Glass, RL Gannon: Serotonergic potentiation of photic phase shifts of the circadian activity rhythm. *Neuroreport* 6, 1417-1420 (1995)
- 35. KV Fite, S Janusonis, W Foote, L Bengston: Retinal afferents to the dorsal raphe nucleus in rats and Mongolian gerbils. *J Comp Neurol* 414, 469-484 (1999)
- 36. ZG Jiang, K Teshima, Y Yang, T Yoshioka, CN Allen: Pre- and postsynaptic actions of serotonin on rat suprachiasmatic nucleus neurons. *Brain Res* 866, 247-256 (2000)
- 37. GW Lambert, C Reid, DM Kaye, GL Jennings, MD Esler: Effect of sunlight and season on serotonin turnover in the brain. *Lancet* 360, 1840-1842 (2002)
- 38. Q Yuan, F Lin, X Zheng, A Sehgal: Serotonin modulates circadian entrainment in Drosophila. *Neuron* 47, 115-127 (2005)
- 39. SH Snyder, J Borjigin, P Sassone-Corsi: Discovering light effects on the brain. *Am J Psychiatry* 163, 771 (2006)
- 40. JS Kennedy, HE Gwirtsman, DE Schmidt, BW Johnson, E Fielstein, RM Salomon, RG Shiavi, MH Ebert, WC Parris, PT Loosen: Serial cerebrospinal fluid tryptophan and 5-hydroxy indoleacetic acid concentrations in healthy human subjects. *Life Sci* 71, 1703-1715 (2002)
- 41. JM Monti, D Monti: The involvement of dopamine in the modulation of sleep and waking. *Sleep Med Rev* 11, 113-133 (2007)
- 42. MM Lima, ML Andersen, AB Reksidler, A Silva, A Zager, SM Zanata, MA Vital, S Tufik: Blockage of dopaminergic D(2) receptors produces decrease of REM but not of slow wave sleep in rats after REM sleep deprivation. *Behav Brain Res* 188, 406-411 (2008)

- 43. I Yujnovsky, J Hirayama, M Doi, E Borrelli, P Sassone-Corsi: Signaling mediated by the dopamine D2 receptor potentiates circadian regulation by CLOCK:BMAL1. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 6386-6391 (2006)
- 44. P Witkovsky: Dopamine and retinal function. *Doc Ophthalmol* 108, 17-40 (2004)
- 45. V Simonneaux, C Ribelayga: Generation of the melatonin endocrine message in mammals: a review of the complex regulation of melatonin synthesis by norepinephrine, peptides, and other pineal transmitters. *Pharmacol Rev* 55, 325-395 (2003)
- 46. I Singh, N Rose: Biomarkers in psychiatry. *Nature* 460, 202-207 (2009)
- 47. II Gottesman, TD Gould: The endophenotype concept in psychiatry: etymology and strategic intentions. *Am J Psychiatry* 160, 636-645 (2003)
- 48. D Goldman, F Ducci: Deconstruction of vulnerability to complex diseases: enhanced effect sizes and power of intermediate phenotypes. *Scientific World Journal* 7, 124-130 (2007)
- 49. TH Monk, JF Flaherty, E Frank, K Hoskinson, DJ Kupfer: The Social Rhythm Metric. An instrument to quantify the daily rhythms of life. *J Nerv Ment Dis* 178, 120-126 (1990)
- 50. TH Monk, E Frank, JM Potts, DJ Kupfer: A simple way to measure daily lifestyle regularity. *J Sleep Res* 11, 183-190 (2002)
- 51. TH Monk, DJ Buysse, JM Potts, JM DeGrazia, DJ Kupfer: Morningness-eveningness and lifestyle regularity. *Chronobiol Int* 21, 435-443 (2004)
- 52. TH Monk, CF Reynolds, 3rd, DJ Buysse, JM DeGrazia, DJ Kupfer: The relationship between lifestyle regularity and subjective sleep quality. *Chronobiol Int* 20, 97-107 (2003)
- 53. LG Sylvia, LB Alloy, JA Hafner, MC Gauger, K Verdon, LY Abramson: Life events and social rhythms in bipolar spectrum disorders: a prospective study. *Behav Ther* 40, 131-141 (2009)
- 54. LM Giglio, PV Magalhaes, AC Andreazza, JC Walz, L Jakobson, P Rucci, AR Rosa, MP Hidalgo, E Vieta, F Kapczinski: Development and use of a biological rhythm interview. *J Affect Disord* 118, 161-165 (2009)
- 55. TD Meyer, S Maier: Is there evidence for social rhythm instability in people at risk for affective disorders? *Psychiatry Res* 141, 103-114 (2006)
- 56. GH Shen, LB Alloy, LY Abramson, LG Sylvia: Social rhythm regularity and the onset of affective episodes in bipolar spectrum individuals. Bipolar Disord 10, 520-529 (2008)

- 57. S Malkoff-Schwartz, E Frank, B Anderson, JT Sherrill, L Siegel, D Patterson, DJ Kupfer: Stressful life events and social rhythm disruption in the onset of manic and depressive bipolar episodes: a preliminary investigation. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 55, 702-707 (1998)
- 58. CS Smith, C Reilly, K Midkiff: Evaluation of three circadian rhythm questionnaires with suggestions for an improved measure of morningness. *J Appl Psychol* 74, 728-738 (1989)
- 59. A Zavada, MC Gordijn, DG Beersma, S Daan, T Roenneberg: Comparison of the Munich Chronotype Questionnaire with the Horne-Ostberg's Morningness-Eveningness Score. *Chronobiol Int* 22, 267-278 (2005)
- 60. GA Kerkhof, HP Van Dongen: Morning-type and evening-type individuals differ in the phase position of their endogenous circadian oscillator. *Neurosci Lett* 218(3), 153-156 (1996)
- 61. JF Duffy, DW Rimmer, CA Czeisler: Association of intrinsic circadian period with morningness-eveningness, usual wake time, and circadian phase. *Behav Neurosci* 115, 895-899 (2001)
- 62. HJ Burgess, LF Fogg: Individual differences in the amount and timing of salivary melatonin secretion. *PLoS One* 3, e3055 (2008)
- 63. C Randler, S Schaal: Morningness-eveningness, habitual sleep-wake variables and cortisol level. *Biol Psychol* 85, 14-18 (2010)
- 64. H Caci, L Nadalet, P Staccini, M Myquel, P Boyer: The composite scale of morningness: further psychometric properties and temporal stability. *Eur Psychiatry* 15, 278-281 (2000)
- 65. KM Greenwood: Long-term stability and psychometric properties of the Composite Scale of Morningness. *Ergonomics* 37, 377-383 (1994)
- 66. J Wood, B Birmaher, D Axelson, M Ehmann, C Kalas, K Monk, S Turkin, DJ Kupfer, D Brent, TH Monk, VL Nimgainkar: Replicable differences in preferred circadian phase between bipolar disorder patients and control individuals. *Psychiatry Res* 166, 201-209 (2009)
- 67. YM. Ahn, J Chang, YH Joo, SC Kim, KY Lee, YS Kim: Chronotype distribution in bipolar I disorder and schizophrenia in a Korean sample. *Bipolar Disord* 10, 271-275 (2008)
- 68. HA Mansour, J Wood, KV Chowdari, M Dayal, ME Thase, DJ Kupfer, TH Monk, B Devlin, VL Nimgaonkar: Circadian phase variation in bipolar I disorder. *Chronobiol Int* 22, 571-584 (2005)
- 69. C Boudebesse, M Lajnef, PA Geoffroy, F Bellivier, I Nieto, S Gard, E Olie, JM Azorin, JP Kahn, T Bougerol, C Passerieux, V Aubin, V Milhiet, S Folkard, M Leboyer, C

- Henry, B Etain: Chronotypes of Bipolar Patients in Remission: Validation of the French Version of the Circadian Type Inventory in the FACE-BD Sample. *Chronobiol Int* 30, 1042-1049 (2013)
- 70. JK Chung, KY Lee, SH Kim, EJ Kim, SH Jeong, HY Jung, JE Choi, YM Ahn, YS Kim, EJ Joo: Circadian Rhythm Characteristics in Mood Disorders: Comparison among Bipolar I Disorder, Bipolar II Disorder and Recurrent Major Depressive Disorder. *Clin Psychopharmacol Neurosci* 10, 110-116 (2012)
- 71. I Chelminski, FR Ferraro, TV Petros, JJ Plaud: An analysis of the "eveningness-morningness" dimension in "depressive" college students. *J Affect Disord* 52, 19-29 (1999)
- 72. L Di Milia, PA Smith, S Folkard: A validation of the revised circadian type inventory in a working sample. *Personality and Individual Differences* 39, 1293-1305 (2005)
- 73. JM Vink, AS Groot, GA Kerkhof, DI Boomsma: Genetic analysis of morningness and eveningness. *Chronobiol Int* 18, 809-822 (2001)
- 74. L Klei, P Reitz, M Miller, J Wood, S Maendel, D Gross, T Waldner, J Eaton, TH Monk, VL Nimgaonkar: Heritability of morningness-eveningness and self-report sleep measures in a family-based sample of 521 hutterites. *Chronobiol Int* 22, 1041-1054 (2005)
- 75. M Koskenvuo, C Hublin, M Partinen, K Heikkila, J Kaprio: Heritability of diurnal type: a nationwide study of 8753 adult twin pairs. *J Sleep Res* 16, 156-162 (2007)
- 76. NL Barclay, TC Eley, DJ Buysse, SN Archer, AM Gregory: Diurnal preference and sleep quality: same genes? A study of young adult twins. *Chronobiol Int* 27, 278-296 (2010)
- 77. R Hakkarainen, C Johansson, T Kieseppa, T Partonen, M Koskenvuo, J Kaprio, J Lonnqvist: Seasonal changes, sleep length and circadian preference among twins with bipolar disorder. *BMC Psychiatry* 3, 6 (2003)
- 78. S Ancoli-Israel, R Cole, C Alessi, M Chambers, W Moorcroft, CP Pollak: The role of actigraphy in the study of sleep and circadian rhythms. *Sleep* 26, 342-392 (2003)
- 79. KA Kaplan, LS Talbot, J Gruber, AG Harvey: Evaluating sleep in bipolar disorder: comparison between actigraphy, polysomnography, and sleep diary. *Bipolar Disord* 14, 870-879 (2012)
- 80. N Sitaram, JI Nurnberger Jr, ES Gershon, JC Gillin: Cholinergic regulation of mood and REM sleep: potential model and marker of vulnerability to affective disorder. *Am J Psychiatry* 139, 571-576 (1982)
- 81. JB Knowles, J Cairns, AW MacLean, N Delva, A Prowse, J Waldron, FJ Letemendia: The sleep of remitted

- bipolar depressives: comparison with sex and age-matched controls. Can J Psychiatry 31, 295-298 (1986)
- 82. A Gershon, WK Thompson, P Eidelman, EL McGlinchey, KA Kaplan, AG Harvey: Restless pillow, ruffled mind: sleep and affect coupling in interepisode bipolar disorder. *J Abnorm Psychol* 121, 863-873 (2012)
- 83. AG Harvey, DA Schmidt, A Scarna, CN Semler, GM Goodwin: Sleep-related functioning in euthymic patients with bipolar disorder, patients with insomnia, and subjects without sleep problems. *Am J Psychiatry* 162, 50-57 (2005)
- 84. SH Jones, DJ Hare, K Evershed: Actigraphic assessment of circadian activity and sleep patterns in bipolar disorder. *Bipolar Disord* 7, 176-186 (2005)
- 85. A Millar, CA Espie, J Scott: The sleep of remitted bipolar outpatients: a controlled naturalistic study using actigraphy. *J Affect Disord* 80, 145-153 (2004)
- 86. BC Mullin, AG Harvey, SP Hinshaw: A preliminary study of sleep in adolescents with bipolar disorder, ADHD, and non-patient controls. *Bipolar Disord* 13, 425-432 (2011)
- 87. PS Ritter, C Marx, N Lewtschenko, S Pfeiffer, K Leopold, M Bauer, A Pfennig: The characteristics of sleep in patients with manifest bipolar disorder, subjects at high risk of developing the disease and healthy controls. *J Neural Transm* 119, 1173-1184 (2012)
- 88. P Salvatore, S Ghidini, G Zita, C De Panfilis, S Lambertino, C Maggini, RJ Baldessarini: Circadian activity rhythm abnormalities in ill and recovered bipolar I disorder patients. *Bipolar Disord* 10, 256-265 (2008)
- 89. J St-Amand, MD Provencher, L Belanger, CM Morin: Sleep disturbances in bipolar disorder during remission. *J Affect Disord* 146, 112-119 (2013)
- 90. D Ankers, SH Jones: Objective assessment of circadian activity and sleep patterns in individuals at behavioural risk of hypomania. *J Clin Psychol* 65, 1071-1086 (2009)
- 91. SH Jones, S Tai, K Evershed, R Knowles, R Bentall: Early detection of bipolar disorder: a pilot familial highrisk study of parents with bipolar disorder and their adolescent children. *Bipolar Disord* 8, 362-372 (2006)
- 92. P Hamet, J Tremblay: Genetics of the sleep-wake cycle and its disorders. *Metabolism* 55, S7-12 (2006)
- 93. Y Dauvilliers, S Maret, M Tafti: Genetics of normal and pathological sleep in humans. *Sleep Med Rev* 9, 91-100 (2005)
- 94. P Cervantes, S Gelber, FN Kin, VN Nair, G Schwartz: Circadian secretion of cortisol in bipolar disorder. *J Psychiatry Neurosci* 26, 411-416 (2001)

- 95. D Deshauer, A Duffy, M Alda, E Grof, J Albuquerque, P Grof: The cortisol awakening response in bipolar illness: a pilot study. *Can J Psychiatry* 48, 462-466 (2003)
- 96. MJ Webster, MB Knable, J O'Grady, J Orthmann, CS Weickert: Regional specificity of brain glucocorticoid receptor mRNA alterations in subjects with schizophrenia and mood disorders. *Mol Psychiatry* 7, 985-994, 924 (2002)
- 97. M Bartels, M Van den Berg, F Sluyter, DI Boomsma, EJ de Geus: Heritability of cortisol levels: review and simultaneous analysis of twin studies. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 28, 121-137 (2003)
- 98. N. Kupper, E. J. de Geus, M. van den Berg, C. Kirschbaum, D. I. Boomsma and G. Willemsen: Familial influences on basal salivary cortisol in an adult population. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 30, 857-868 (2005)
- 99. CE Franz, TP York, LJ Eaves, SP Mendoza, RL Hauger, DH Hellhammer, KC Jacobson, S Levine, SJ Lupien, MJ Lyons, E Prom-Wormley, H Xian, WS Kremen: Genetic and environmental influences on cortisol regulation across days and contexts in middle-aged men. *Behav Genet* 40, 467-479 (2010)
- 100. M Vinberg, B Bennike, KO Kyvik, PK Andersen, LV Kessing: Salivary cortisol in unaffected twins discordant for affective disorder. *Psychiatry Res* 161, 292-301 (2008)
- 101. S Wust, J Wolf, DH Hellhammer, I Federenko, N Schommer, C Kirschbaum: The cortisol awakening response normal values and confounds. *Noise Health* 2, 79-88 (2000)
- 102. MA Ellenbogen, JB Santo, AM Linnen, CD Walker, S Hodgins: High cortisol levels in the offspring of parents with bipolar disorder during two weeks of daily sampling. *Bipolar Disord* 12, 77-86 (2010)
- 103. D Deshauer, A Duffy, M Meaney, S Sharma, P Grof: Salivary cortisol secretion in remitted bipolar patients and offspring of bipolar parents. *Bipolar Disord* 8, 345-349 (2006)
- 104. AJ Lewy, JI Nurnberger Jr., TA Wehr, D Pack, LE Becker, RL Powell, DA Newsome: Supersensitivity to light: possible trait marker for manic-depressive illness. *Am J Psychiatry* 142, 725-727 (1985)
- 105. PJ Nathan, GD Burrows, TR Norman: Melatonin sensitivity to dim white light in affective disorders. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 21, 408-413 (1999)
- 106. RW Lam, AL Berkowitz, SL Berga, CM Clark, DF Kripke, JC Gillin: Melatonin suppression in bipolar and unipolar mood disorders. *Psychiatry Res* 33, 129-134 (1990)

- 107. LJ Whalley, T Perini, A Shering, J Bennie: Melatonin response to bright light in recovered, drug-free, bipolar patients. *Psychiatry Res* 38, 13-19 (1991)
- 108. JI Nurnberger Jr, S Adkins, DK Lahiri, A Mayeda, K Hu, A Lewy, A Miller, ES Bowman, MJ Miller, L Rau, C Smiley, D Davis-Singh: Melatonin suppression by light in euthymic bipolar and unipolar patients. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 57, 572-579 (2000)
- 109. SH Kennedy, SP Kutcher, E Ralevski, GM Brown: Nocturnal melatonin and 24-hour 6-sulphatoxymelatonin levels in various phases of bipolar affective disorder. *Psychiatry Res* 63, 219-222 (1996)
- 110. S Sarrazin, B Etain, FE Vederine, MA d'Albis, N Hamdani, C Daban, M Delavest, JP Lepine, M Leboyer, JF Mangin, C Poupon, J Houenou: MRI exploration of pineal volume in bipolar disorder. *J Affect Disord* 135, 377-379 (2011)
- 111. KT Hallam, JS Olver, V Chambers, DP Begg, C McGrath, TR Norman: The heritability of melatonin secretion and sensitivity to bright nocturnal light in twins. *Psychoneuroendocrinology* 31, 867-875 (2006)
- 112. JI Nurnberger Jr, W Berrettini, L Tamarkin, J Hamovit, J Norton, E Gershon: Supersensitivity to melatonin suppression by light in young people at high risk for affective disorder. A preliminary report. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 1, 217-223 (1988)
- 113. P Linkowski: Neuroendocrine profiles in mood disorders. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 6, 191-197 (2003)
- 114. LJ Whalley, JE Christie, J Bennie, H Dick, IM Blackburn, D Blackwood, G Sanchez Watts, G Fink: Selective increase in plasma luteinising hormone concentrations in drug free young men with mania. *Br Med J (Clin Res Ed)* 290, 99-102 (1985)
- 115. A Weeke, J Weeke: Disturbed circadian variation of serum thyrotropin in patients with endogenous depression. *Acta Psychiatr Scand* 57, 281-289 (1978)
- 116. E Souetre, E Salvati, TA Wehr, DA Sack, B Krebs, G Darcourt: Twenty-four-hour profiles of body temperature and plasma TSH in bipolar patients during depression and during remission and in normal control subjects. *Am J Psychiatry* 145, 1133-1137 (1988)
- 117. PR Joyce, JD Sellman, RA Donald, JH Livesey, PA Elder: The unipolar-bipolar depressive dichotomy and the relationship between afternoon prolactin and cortisol levels. *J Affect Disord* 14, 189-193 (1988)
- 118. P Linkowski, M Kerkhofs, A Van Onderbergen, P Hubain, G Copinschi, M L'Hermite-Baleriaux, R Leclercq, M Brasseur, J Mendlewicz, E Van Cauter: The 24-hour profiles of cortisol, prolactin, and growth hormone secretion in mania. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 51, 616-624 (1994)

- 119. K Krauchi, T Deboer: The interrelationship between sleep regulation and thermoregulation. *Front Biosci* 15, 604-625 (2010)
- 120. HM Lachman, E Pedrosa, OA Petruolo, M Cockerham, A Papolos, T Novak, DF Papolos, P Stopkova: Increase in GSK3beta gene copy number variation in bipolar disorder. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 144B, 259-265 (2007)
- 121. KY Lee, YM Ahn, EJ Joo, SH Jeong, JS Chang, SC Kim, YS Kim: No association of two common SNPs at position -1727 A/T, -50 C/T of GSK-3 beta polymorphisms with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder of Korean population. *Neurosci Lett* 395, 175-178 (2006)
- 122. CM Nievergelt, DF Kripke, TB Barrett, E Burg, RA Remick, AD Sadovnick, SL McElroy, PE Keck Jr, NJ Schork, JR Kelsoe: Suggestive evidence for association of the circadian genes PERIOD3 and ARNTL with bipolar disorder. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 141B, 234-241 (2006)
- 123. DF Kripke, CM Nievergelt, E Joo, T Shekhtman, JR Kelsoe: Circadian polymorphisms associated with affective disorders. *J Circadian Rhythms* 7, 2 (2009)
- 124. SA Brown, F Fleury-Olela, E Nagoshi, C Hauser, C Juge, CA Meier, R Chicheportiche, JM Dayer, U Albrecht, U Schibler: The period length of fibroblast circadian gene expression varies widely among human individuals. *PLoS Biol* 3, e338 (2005)
- 125. M Akashi, H Soma, T Yamamoto, A Tsugitomi, S Yamashita, E Nishida, A Yasuda, JK Liao, K Node: Noninvasive method for assessing the human circadian clock using hair follicle cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 107, 15643-15648 (2010)
- 126. SA Brown, D Kunz, A Dumas, PO Westermark, K Vanselow, A Tilmann-Wahnschaffe, H Herzel, A Kramer: Molecular insights into human daily behavior. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 105, 1602-1607 (2008)
- 127. S Yang, HP Van Dongen, K Wang, W Berrettini, M Bucan: Assessment of circadian function in fibroblasts of patients with bipolar disorder. *Mol Psychiatry* 14, 143-155 (2009)
- 128. JT Coyle: What can a clock mutation in mice tell us about bipolar disorder? *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 6097-6098 (2007)
- 129. K Roybal, D Theobold, A Graham, JA DiNieri, SJ Russo, V Krishnan, S Chakravarty, J Peevey, N Oehrlein, S Birnbaum, MH Vitaterna, P Orsulak, JS Takahashi, EJ Nestler, WA Carlezon Jr, CA McClung: Mania-like behavior induced by disruption of CLOCK. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 6406-6411 (2007)
- 130. J Prickaerts, D Moechars, K Cryns, I Lenaerts, H van Craenendonck, I Goris, G Daneels, JA Bouwknecht, T

- Steckler: Transgenic mice overexpressing glycogen synthase kinase 3beta: a putative model of hyperactivity and mania. *J Neurosci* 26, 9022-9029 (2006)
- 131. L Westrich, J Sprouse: Circadian rhythm dysregulation in bipolar disorder. *Curr Opin Investig Drugs* 11, 779-787 (2010)
- 132. H Le-Niculescu, SD Patel, M Bhat, R Kuczenski, SV Faraone, MT Tsuang, FJ McMahon, NJ Schork, JI Nurnberger Jr, AB Niculescu 3rd: Convergent functional genomics of genome-wide association data for bipolar disorder: comprehensive identification of candidate genes, pathways and mechanisms. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 150B, 155-181 (2009)
- 133. SD Patel, H Le-Niculescu, DL Koller, SD Green, DK Lahiri, FJ McMahon, JI Nurnberger Jr, AB Niculescu 3rd: Coming to grips with complex disorders: genetic risk prediction in bipolar disorder using panels of genes identified through convergent functional genomics. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 153B, 850-877 (2010)
- 134. F Benedetti, A Bernasconi, C Lorenzi, A Pontiggia, A Serretti, C Colombo, E Smeraldi: A single nucleotide polymorphism in glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta promoter gene influences onset of illness in patients affected by bipolar disorder. *Neurosci Lett* 355, 37-40 (2004)
- 135. F Benedetti, A Serretti, C Colombo, C Lorenzi, V Tubazio, E Smeraldi: A glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta promoter gene single nucleotide polymorphism is associated with age at onset and response to total sleep deprivation in bipolar depression. *Neurosci Lett* 368, 123-126 (2004)
- 136. F Benedetti, S Dallaspezia, C Colombo, A Pirovano, E Marino, E Smeraldi: A length polymorphism in the circadian clock gene Per3 influences age at onset of bipolar disorder. *Neurosci Lett* 445, 184-187 (2008)
- 137. F Benedetti, A Serretti, A Pontiggia, A Bernasconi, C Lorenzi, C Colombo, E Smeraldi: Long-term response to lithium salts in bipolar illness is influenced by the glycogen synthase kinase 3-beta -50 T/C SNP. *Neurosci Lett* 376, 51-55 (2005)
- 138. G Severino, M Manchia, P Contu, A Squassina, S Lampus, R Ardau, C Chillotti, M Del Zompo: Association study in a Sardinian sample between bipolar disorder and the nuclear receptor REV-ERBalpha gene, a critical component of the circadian clock system. *Bipolar Disord* 11, 215-220 (2009)
- 139. F Benedetti, A Serretti, C Colombo, B Barbini, C Lorenzi, E Campori, E Smeraldi: Influence of CLOCK gene polymorphism on circadian mood fluctuation and illness recurrence in bipolar depression. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 123B, 23-26 (2003)
- 140. LK Sjoholm, L Backlund, EH Cheteh, IR Ek, L Frisen, M Schalling, U Osby, C Lavebratt, P Nikamo:

- CRY2 is associated with rapid cycling in bipolar disorder patients. *PLoS One* 5, e12632 (2010)
- 141. J Shi, JK Wittke-Thompson, JA Badner, E Hattori, JB Potash, VL Willour, FJ McMahon, ES Gershon, C Liu: Clock genes may influence bipolar disorder susceptibility and dysfunctional circadian rhythm. *Am J Med Genet B Neuropsychiatr Genet* 147B, 1047-1055 (2008)
- 142. KY Lee, JY Song, SH. Kim, SC Kim, EJ Joo, YM Ahn, YS Kim: Association between CLOCK 3111T/C and preferred circadian phase in Korean patients with bipolar disorder. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* 34, 1196-1201 (2010)
- 143. TD Gould, HK Manji: Glycogen synthase kinase-3: a putative molecular target for lithium mimetic drugs. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 30, 1223-1237 (2005)
- 144. X Li, RS Jope: Is glycogen synthase kinase-3 a central modulator in mood regulation? *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 2143-2154 (2010)
- 145. M Strober, W Morrell, J Burroughs, C Lampert, H Danforth, R Freeman: A family study of bipolar I disorder in adolescence. Early onset of symptoms linked to increased familial loading and lithium resistance. *J Affect Disord* 15, 255-268 (1988)
- 146. S Campos-de-Sousa, C Guindalini, L Tondo, J Munro, S Osborne, G Floris, M Pedrazzoli, S Tufik, G Breen, D Collier: Nuclear receptor rev-erb-{alpha} circadian gene variants and lithium carbonate prophylaxis in bipolar affective disorder. *J Biol Rhythms* 25, 132-137 (2010)
- 147. M Manchia, A Squassina, D Congiu, C Chillotti, R Ardau, G Severino, M Del Zompo: Interacting genes in lithium prophylaxis: preliminary results of an exploratory analysis on the role of DGKH and NR1D1 gene polymorphisms in 199 Sardinian bipolar patients. *Neurosci Lett* 467, 67-71 (2009)
- 148. C Colombo, A Lucca, F Benedetti, B Barbini, E Campori, E Smeraldi: Total sleep deprivation combined with lithium and light therapy in the treatment of bipolar depression: replication of main effects and interaction. *Psychiatry Res* 95, 43-53 (2000)
- 149. LL Altshuler, MA Frye, MJ Gitlin: Acceleration and augmentation strategies for treating bipolar depression. *Biol Psychiatry* 53, 691-700 (2003)
- 150. F Benedetti, B Barbini, MC Fulgosi, C Colombo, S Dallaspezia, A Pontiggia, E Smeraldi: Combined total sleep deprivation and light therapy in the treatment of drugresistant bipolar depression: acute response and long-term remission rates. *J Clin Psychiatry* 66, 1535-1540 (2005)
- 151. E Leibenluft, EH Turner, S Feldman-Naim, PJ Schwartz, TA Wehr, NE Rosenthal: Light therapy in patients with rapid cycling bipolar disorder: preliminary results. *Psychopharmacol Bull* 31, 705-710 (1995)

- 152. D Sit, KL Wisner, BH Hanusa, S Stull, M Terman: Light therapy for bipolar disorder: a case series in women. *Bipolar Disord* 9, 918-927 (2007)
- 153. JC Wu, JR Kelsoe, C Schachat, BG Bunney, A Demodena, S Golshan, JC Gillin, SG Potkin, WE Bunney: Rapid and Sustained Antidepressant Response with Sleep Deprivation and Chronotherapy in Bipolar Disorder. *Biol Psychiatry* 66, 298-301 (2009)
- 154. TA Wehr, EH Turner, JM Shimada, CH Lowe, C Barker, E Leibenluft: Treatment of rapidly cycling bipolar patient by using extended bed rest and darkness to stabilize the timing and duration of sleep. *Biol Psychiatry* 43, 822-828 (1998)
- 155. B Barbini, F Benedetti, C Colombo, D Dotoli, A Bernasconi, M Cigala-Fulgosi, M Florita, E Smeraldi: Dark therapy for mania: a pilot study. *Bipolar Disord* 7, 98-101 (2005)
- 156. J Phelps: Dark therapy for bipolar disorder using amber lenses for blue light blockade. *Med Hypotheses* 70, 224-229 (2008)
- 157. E Frank, DJ Kupfer, ME Thase, AG Mallinger, HA Swartz, AM Fagiolini, V Grochocinski, P Houck, J Scott, W Thompson, T Monk: Two-year outcomes for interpersonal and social rhythm therapy in individuals with bipolar I disorder. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 62, 996-1004 (2005)
- 158. E Frank, HA Swartz, E Boland: Interpersonal and social rhythm therapy: an intervention addressing rhythm dysregulation in bipolar disorder. *Dialogues Clin Neurosci* 9, 325-332 (2007)
- 159. F Colom, E Vieta, A Martinez-Aran, M Reinares, JM Goikolea, A Benabarre, C Torrent, M Comes, B Corbella, G Parramon, J Corominas: A randomized trial on the efficacy of group psychoeducation in the prophylaxis of recurrences in bipolar patients whose disease is in remission. *Arch Gen Psychiatry* 60, 402-407 (2003)
- 160. DF Kripke, DJ Mullaney, M Atkinson, S Wolf: Circadian rhythm disorders in manic-depressives. *Biol Psychiatry* 13, 335-351 (1978)
- 161. M Atkinson, DF Kripke, SR Wolf: Autorhythmometry in manic-depressives. *Chronobiologia* 2, 325-335 (1975)
- 162. SS Campbell, JC Gillin, DF Kripke, DS Janowsky, SC Risch: Lithium delays circadian phase of temperature and REM sleep in a bipolar depressive: a case report. *Psychiatry Res* 27, 23-29 (1989)
- 163. M Abe, ED Herzog, GD Block: Lithium lengthens the circadian period of individual suprachiasmatic nucleus neurons. *Neuroreport* 11, 3261-3264 (2000)
- 164. J Li, WQ Lu, S Beesley, AS Loudon, QJ Meng: Lithium impacts on the amplitude and period of the

- molecular circadian clockwork. PLoS One 7, e33292 (2012)
- 165. KT Hallam, JS Olver, JE Horgan, C McGrath, TR Norman: Low doses of lithium carbonate reduce melatonin light sensitivity in healthy volunteers. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol* 8, 255-259 (2005)
- 166. KT Hallam, JS Olver, TR Norman: Effect of sodium valproate on nocturnal melatonin sensitivity to light in healthy volunteers. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 30, 1400-1404 (2005)
- 167. LM Castro, M Gallant, LP Niles: Novel targets for valproic acid: up-regulation of melatonin receptors and neurotrophic factors in C6 glioma cells. *J Neurochem* 95, 1227-1236 (2005)
- 168. CA Ogden, ME Rich, NJ Schork, MP Paulus, MA Geyer, JB Lohr, R Kuczenski, AB Niculescu: Candidate genes, pathways and mechanisms for bipolar (manic-depressive) and related disorders: an expanded convergent functional genomics approach. *Mol Psychiatry* 9, 1007-1029 (2004)
- 169. E Leibenluft, S Feldman-Naim, EH Turner, TA Wehr, NE Rosenthal: Effects of exogenous melatonin administration and withdrawal in five patients with rapid-cycling bipolar disorder. *J Clin Psychiatry* 58, 383-388 (1997)
- 170. JM Robertson, PE Tanguay: Case study: the use of melatonin in a boy with refractory bipolar disorder. *J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry* 36, 822-825 (1997)
- 171. G Bersani, A Garavini: Melatonin add-on in manic patients with treatment resistant insomnia. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry* 24, 185-191 (2000)
- 172. AA Nierenberg: Low-dose buspirone, melatonin and low-dose bupropion added to mood stabilizers for severe treatment-resistant bipolar depression. *Psychother Psychosom* 78, 391-393 (2009)
- 173. ER Norris, B Karen, JR Correll, KJ Zemanek, J Lerman, RA Primelo, MW Kaufmann: A double-blind, randomized, placebo-controlled trial of adjunctive ramelteon for the treatment of insomnia and mood stability in patients with euthymic bipolar disorder. *J Affect Disord* 144, 141-147 (2013)
- 174. C de Bodinat, B Guardiola-Lemaitre, E Mocaer, P Renard, C Munoz, MJ Millan: Agomelatine, the first melatonergic antidepressant: discovery, characterization and development. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* 9, 628-642 (2010)
- 175. JR Calabrese, JD Guelfi, C Perdrizet-Chevallier: Agomelatine adjunctive therapy for acute bipolar depression: preliminary open data. *Bipolar Disord* 9, 628-635 (2007)
- 176. AB Eppel: Agomelatine adjunctive therapy for acute bipolar depression: preliminary open data. *Bipolar Disord* 10, 749-50 (2008)

- 177. M Fornaro, MJ McCarthy, D De Berardis, C De Pasquale, M Tabaton, M Martino, S Colicchio, CI Cattaneo, E D'Angelo, P Fornaro: Adjunctive agomelatine therapy in the treatment of acute bipolar II depression: a preliminary open label study. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat* 9, 243-251 (2013)
- 178. AG Harvey, G Murray, RA Chandler, A Soehner: Sleep disturbance as transdiagnostic: consideration of neurobiological mechanisms. *Clin Psychol Rev* 31, 225-235 (2011)
- 179. BP Hasler, JJ Allen, DA Sbarra, RR Bootzin, RA Bernert: Morningness-eveningness and depression: preliminary evidence for the role of the behavioral activation system and positive affect. *Psychiatry Res* 176, 166-173 (2010)
- 180. S Kitamura, A Hida, M Watanabe, M Enomoto, S Aritake-Okada, Y Moriguchi, Y Kamei, K Mishima: Evening preference is related to the incidence of depressive states independent of sleep-wake conditions. *Chronobiol Int* 27, 1797-1812 (2010)
- 181. SJ Kim, YJ Lee, H Kim, IH Cho, JY Lee, SJ Cho: Age as a moderator of the association between depressive symptoms and morningness-eveningness. *J Psychosom Res* 68, 159-164 (2010)
- 182. MP Hidalgo, W Caumo, M Posser, SB Coccaro, AL Camozzato, ML Chaves: Relationship between depressive mood and chronotype in healthy subjects. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 63, 283-290 (2009)
- 183. SK Elmore, K Dahl, DH Avery, MV Savage, GL Brengelmann: Body temperature and diurnal type in women with seasonal affective disorder. *Health Care Women Int* 14, 17-26 (1993)
- 184. SM Bae, JE Park, YJ Lee, IH Cho, JH Kim, SH Koh, SJ Kim, SJ Cho: Gender difference in the association between adult attention deficit hyperactivity disorder symptoms and morningness-eveningness. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci* 64, 649-651 (2010)
- 185. YE Rybak, HE McNeely, BE Mackenzie, UR Jain, RD Levitan: Seasonality and circadian preference in adult attention-deficit/hyperactivity disorder: clinical and neuropsychological correlates. *Compr Psychiatry* 48, 562-571 (2007)
- 186. A Adan, J Lachica, H Caci, V Natale: Circadian typology and temperament and character personality dimensions. *Chronobiol Int* 27, 181-193 (2010)
- 187. V Soria, E Martinez-Amoros, G Escaramis, J Valero, R Perez-Egea, C Garcia, A Gutierrez-Zotes, D Puigdemont, M Bayes, JM Crespo, L Martorell, E Vilella, A Labad, J Vallejo, V Perez, JM Menchon, X Estivill, M Gratacos, M Urretavizcaya: Differential association of circadian genes with mood disorders: CRY1 and NPAS2 are associated with unipolar major depression and CLOCK and VIP with

- bipolar disorder. *Neuropsychopharmacology* 35, 1279-1289 (2010)
- 188. HA Mansour, ME Talkowski, J Wood, KV Chowdari, L McClain, K Prasad, D Montrose, A Fagiolini, ES Friedman, MH Allen, CL Bowden, J Calabrese, RS El-Mallakh, M Escamilla, SV Faraone, MD Fossey, L Gyulai, JM Loftis, P Hauser, TA Ketter, LB Marangell, DJ Miklowitz, AA Nierenberg, J Patel, GS Sachs, P Sklar, JW Smoller, N Laird, M Keshavan, ME Thase, D Axelson, B Birmaher, D Lewis, T Monk, E Frank, DJ Kupfer, B Devlin, VL Nimgaonkar: Association study of 21 circadian genes with bipolar I disorder, schizoaffective disorder, and schizophrenia. *Bipolar Disord* 11, 701-710 (2009)
- 189. HA Mansour, J Wood, T Logue, KV Chowdari, M Dayal, DJ Kupfer, TH Monk, B Devlin, VL Nimgaonkar: Association study of eight circadian genes with bipolar I disorder, schizoaffective disorder and schizophrenia. *Genes Brain Behav* 5, 150-157 (2006)
- 190. MJ McCarthy, CM Nievergelt, JR Kelsoe, DK Welsh: A survey of genomic studies supports association of circadian clock genes with bipolar disorder spectrum illnesses and lithium response. *PLoS One* 7, e32091 (2012)
- 191. T Kishi, T Kitajima, M Ikeda, Y Yamanouchi, Y Kinoshita, K Kawashima, T Okochi, N Ozaki, N Iwata: Association analysis of nuclear receptor Rev-erb alpha gene (NR1D1) with mood disorders in the Japanese population. *Neurosci Res* 62, 211-215 (2008)
- 192. CL McGrath, SJ Glatt, P Sklar, H Le-Niculescu, R Kuczenski, AE Doyle, J Biederman, E Mick, SV Faraone, AB Niculescu, MT Tsuang: Evidence for genetic association of RORB with bipolar disorder. *BMC Psychiatry* 9, 70 (2009)
- 193. S Matsunaga, M Ikeda, T Kishi, Y Fukuo, B Aleksic, R Yoshimura, T Okochi, Y Yamanouchi, Y Kinoshita, K Kawashima, W Umene-Nakano, T Inada, H Kunugi, T Kato, T Yoshikawa, H Ujike, J Nakamura, N Ozaki, T Kitajima, N Iwata: An evaluation of polymorphisms in casein kinase 1 delta and epsilon genes in major psychiatric disorders. *Neurosci Lett* 529, 66-69 (2012)
- 194. A Szczepankiewicz, M Skibinska, J Hauser, A Slopien, A Leszczynska-Rodziewicz, P Kapelski, M Dmitrzak-Weglarz, PM Czerski, JK Rybakowski: Association analysis of the GSK-3beta T-50C gene polymorphism with schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. *Neuropsychobiology* 53, 51-56 (2006)
- 195. B Etain, A Dumaine, F Bellivier, C Pagan, L Francelle, H Goubran-Botros, S Moreno, J Deshommes, K Moustafa, K Le Dudal, F Mathieu, C Henry, JP Kahn, JM Launay, TW Muhleisen, S Cichon, T Bourgeron, M Leboyer, S Jamain: Genetic and functional abnormalities of the melatonin biosynthesis pathway in patients with bipolar disorder. *Hum Mol Genet* 21, 4030-4037 (2012)

Circadian abnormalities in bipolar disorders

Abbreviations: BD: bipolar disorders; BD1: bipolar disorder type 1; BD2: bipolar disorder type 2; SCN: suprachiasmatic nuclei; CLOCK: circadian locomotor output cycles kaput; ARNTL1 (or BMAL1): aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like 1 (or brain and muscle ARNT like 1); ARNTL2 (or BMAL2): aryl hydrocarbon receptor nuclear translocator-like 2 (or brain and muscle ARNT like 2); PER1: period homolog 1; PER2: period homolog 2; PER3: period homolog 3; CRY1: cryptochrome 1; CRY2: cryptochrome 2; NR1D1 (or REV-ERBalpha): nuclear receptor subfamily1, groupe D, member1 (orphan nuclear receptor REV-ERBalpha) ; RORA: retinoid-related orphan receptor A; RORB: retinoid-related orphan receptor B; TIMELESS: timeless homolog; CSNK1delta: casein kinase 1 delta; CSNK1epsilon : casein kinase 1 epsilon; GSK3beta: glycogen synthase kinase 3 beta; CSM: composite scale of morningness; PSG: polysomnography; REM: rapid eye movement; CNV: copy number variation; SNP: single nucleotide polymorphism; DBP: D site of albumin promoter; DEC2 (or BHLHB3): differentially expressed in chondrocytes 2 (or basic helix-loop-helix domain containing, class B, 3); IPSRT: interpersonal and social rhythm therapy; OMIM: online mendelian inheritance in man

Keys Words: Bipolar disorders, Circadian rhythms, Chronotype, Clock genes, Trait marker, Melatonin, Review

Send correspondence to: Bruno Etain, Centre Expert Troubles Bipolaires, Pole de Psychiatrie, Hopital Albert Chenevier, 40 rue de Mesly, 94000Creteil, France. Tel: 33149813290, Fax: 33149813099, Email: bruno.etain@inserm.fr